### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

## **CASE NO. SC11-426**

# **CHARLES WILLIAM FINNEY**

Appellant,

v.

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

### **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

PAMELA H. IZAKOWITZ Florida Bar No. 0053856 BACKHUS & IZAKOWITZ, P.A. 13014 N. DALE MABRY, #746 TAMPA, FL 33618 (813) 269-7604

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

### **INTRODUCTION**

Charles Finney was deprived of a reliable sentencing proceeding due to the ineffective assistance of trial counsel at the penalty phase in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), the United States Supreme Court found this Court's prejudice analysis in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), to be "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. At 455. In *Porter v. State*, this Court conducted the following prejudice analysis:

At the conclusion of the postconviction evidentiary hearing in this case, the trial court had before it two conflicting expert opinions over the existence of mitigation. Based upon our case law, it was then for the trial court to resolve the conflict by the weight the trial court afforded one expert's opinion as compared to the other. The trial court did this and resolved the conflict by determining that the greatest weight was to be afforded the State's expert. We accept this finding by the trial court because it was based upon competent, substantial evidence.

*Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d at 923. The United States Supreme Court rejected this analysis, and implicitly this Court's case law on which it was premised as an unreasonable application of *Strickland*:

The Florida Supreme Court's decision that Porter was not prejudiced by this counsel's failure to conduct a thorough-or even cursory investigation is unreasonable. The Florida Supreme Court did not consider or unreasonably discounted mitigation adduced in the postconviction hearing.

\*\*\*\*

Yet neither the postconviction trial court nor the Florida Supreme Court gave any consideration for the purpose of nonstatutory mitigation to Dr. Dee's testimony regarding the existence of a brain abnormality and cognitive defects. While the State's experts identified perceived problems with the tests that Dr. Dee used and the conclusions that he drew from them, it was not reasonable to discount entirely the effect his testimony might have had on the jury or the sentencing judge.

Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. At 454-55.

The *Porter* decision establishes that the previous denial of Mr. Finney's claims that he did not receive a reliable sentencing proceeding was premised on this Court's case law misreading and misapplying *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1994). The United States Supreme Court's decision in *Porter* represents a fundamental repudiation of this Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence, and as such, *Porter* constitutes a change in state law as it has been routinely applied. Mr. Finney's *Porter* claim is cognizable in these post-conviction proceedings. See *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980).

In *Sears v. Upton*, 130 S. Ct. 3266 (2010), the United States Supreme Court expounded on its *Porter* analysis, finding that a Georgia post-conviction court failed to apply the proper prejudice inquiry under *Strickland*. The Georgia state court "found itself unable to assess whether counsel's inadequate investigation might have prejudiced Sears" and unable to "speculate as to what the effect of additional evidence would have been" because Sears' counsel "did present some mitigation evidence during Sears' penalty phase." Id. at 3261. The United States Supreme Court found that "[a]lthough the court appears to have stated the proper prejudice standard, it did not correctly conceptualize how that standard applies to the circumstances of this case." Id. at 3264. The United States Supreme Court explained the state court's reasoning as follows:

> Because Sears' counsel did present some mitigation evidence during his penalty phase, the court concluded that "[t]his case cannot be fairly compared with those where little or no mitigation evidence is presented and where a reasonable prediction of outcome can be made." The court explained that "it is impossible to know what effect [a different mitigation theory] would have had on the jury]." "Because counsel put forth a reasonable theory with supporting evidence, " the court reasoned, "[Sears] ...failed to meet his burden of proving that there is a reasonable likelihood that the outcome at trial would have been different if a different mitigation theory had been advanced.

Id.

After *Porter*, it is necessary to conduct a new analysis in Mr. Finney's case, guided by *Porter* and compliant with *Strickland*. Because the United States Supreme Court has found this Court's prejudice analysis to be in error, Mr. Finney's claims that he was deprived of an individualized and reliable sentencing proceeding must be readdressed in light of *Porter*. The judge and jury at Mr. Finney's trial "heard almost nothing that would humanize [him] or allow them to accurately gauge his moral culpability. Id. at 454. A truncated, cursory analysis of prejudice does not satisfy *Strickland*. In Mr. Finney's case, this is precisely the sort of analysis that was conducted. *Sears* held that post-conviction courts must speculate as to the effect of unpresented evidence in order to make a *Strickland* prejudice determination not only when little or no mitigation evidence was presented at trial but in all instances. As *Sears* points to *Porter* as the recent articulation of *Strickland* prejudice correcting a misconception in state courts, the failure to conduct a probing, fact-specific prejudice analysis can be characterized as "*Porter* error."

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On the afternoon of January 16, 1991, Sandra Sutherland was found dead in her Tampa apartment. She had been stabbed 13 times (R. 376-377). Two weeks later, Charles Finney came to the attention of police after it was discovered that he had pawned a VCR at a local pawn shop that apparently belonged to Sandra Sutherland. Charles Finney said he found the VCR in a dumpster at his apartment complex and took it to a pawnshop. He denied killing Sandra Sutherland (R. 415)

Mr. Finney was indicted for first-degree murder, robbery, sexual battery and trafficking in stolen property (R. at 14-18). The sexual battery was nolle prossed before jury selection began.

Mr. Finney went to trial on September 14, 1992. The State's theory of the case was that Mr. Finney killed Sandra Sutherland in the course of a robbery. On the same day as her death, Mr. Finney pawned her VCR at a Tampa pawnshop. The State said that two fingerprints were found in her apartment on a piece of paper and on a jar of cold cream near her bed that purportedly belonged to Mr. Finney. The only other evidence linking Mr. Finney to the murder was the pawnshop receipt of the VCR that Mr. Finney admitted he pawned.

Of the 50 latent prints found in Sandra Sutherland's apartment, 18 were of no value, seven were identified, presumably two of these were Mr. Finney's. However, 25 prints of value remained unidentified (R. 354).

Ruth Sutherland, the mother of Sandy Sutherland, testified that she spoke with her daughter on the telephone on January 16, 1991, when her daughter called to wish her a happy wedding anniversary. As she was on the telephone, Sandy said, "Someone is here....and I'll call you back." She never did. Mrs. Sutherland testified that she did not know if her daughter was dating anyone (R. 275).

After Ruth Sutherland got a phone call from her daughter's employer telling her that her daughter had not shown up for work that day, Ruth Sutherland sent one of her employees to Sandy's house to check on her.

Allen Lette had worked with the Sutherland family and had known Sandy for seven years and had helped her move into her apartment one month earlier (R.

5

281-284). He arrived at her apartment at about 2 p.m. He found the sliding glass door opened and a man working in the back of her apartment. He saw her lying naked in bed, tied up, and face down. He called for help (R. 276-281).

On the afternoon of January 16, 1991, Charles Finney took a VCR to a pawn shop on Nebraska Avenue in Tampa. He presented identification and provided a local address, both in his own name (R. at 280).

Evidence also was presented that on January 15, 1991, the day before Ms. Sutherland was murdered, Mr. Finney, as was his habit, had pawned a television set at the same pawn shop. The television was not stolen (R. at 423). In fact, Mr. Finney frequently pawned items he found in his maintenance job. None of the items were stolen (R. 536-550).

During the defense case, Sydney Lewis Bayles, Jr. testified that he lived in the same apartment complex as Mr. Finney and Sandra Sutherland. On January 15,1991, he saw Ms. Sutherland arguing with a white man. Mr. Finney is African-American. He described the man as a big guy, 6'1" inches, 220-230 pounds, mustache and heavy set. Mr. Bayles said the two were screaming at each other in loud voices. He had not seen the man before (R. 446-448). When he approached the two, the man said to him, "What the fuck are you looking at?" (R. 457). Mr. Bayles said nothing and left. Medical Examiner Charles Diggs testified that he found no evidence of a struggle at the scene (R. 490-493). No negroid hairs were found in the apartment (R. 520).

Brad Ganka, a self-employed painting contractor, who painted the apartments where Ms. Sutherland lived, testified that on January 16, 1991, he saw a man at her apartment at 10 a.m. He knew the man as Bill Kunkle, a carpenter. Mr. Ganka testified that he saw Mr. Kunkle standing in a doorway and the door was opened. As soon as Mr. Kunkle saw Mr. Ganka, he locked the door and walked around the corner (R. 503).

Bernice Phipps, who was with Mr. Ganka on January 16, 1991 at the same apartment complex, corroborated Mr. Ganka's testimony. She also testified that she saw Bill Kunkle at 10 a.m. locking the door to Ms. Sutherland's apartment and leaving, "walking pretty fast" (R. 512).

Mr. Finney testified in his own defense. He said that he knew Sandra Sutherland because they were neighbors. He also had worked maintenance at the apartment complex and went inside her apartment on several occasions. He testified that she had asked him to screen her porch and she asked him to write the measurements down on a piece of paper. He also helped her move boxes (R. 532-536). Mr. Finney denied killing Sandra Sutherland.

After the jury deliberated for eight hours, it returned a verdict of guilty of murder, armed robbery, and stolen property (R. 756-758).

Mr. Finney's sentencing phase began September 18, 1992. The jury returned an advisory sentence of death that day with a vote of 9-3 (R. 921). Mr. Finney was sentenced to death on November 10, 1992 (R. 941-952).

The trial court found the aggravating factors of previous conviction of a felony involving the use or threat of violence; the capital felony was committed for financial gain; and the crime was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. (R. 941-952). The trial court found several non-statutory mitigating circumstances, including that Mr. Finney had a good work and military history; that he had positive character traits; there was potential for rehabilitation; that he enlisted in the service; and was honorably discharged (R. 948-950).

On direct appeal, this court affirmed the conviction and death sentence. *Finney v. State*, 660 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1995), *cert. denied*, 116 S. Ct. 823 (1996).

Mr. Finney sought post-conviction relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850/3.851. His attorney filed a 30-page boilerplate Rule 3.850 motion that raised five issues: the trial counsel was ineffective at the guilt and penalty phases of trial; that the jury instructions were unconstitutional; that newly-discovered evidence showed that the conviction and sentence were unreliable; that Mr.

8

Finney's death sentence rests on an automatic aggravating factor; and Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional.

Mr. Finney was granted an evidentiary hearing on his claim of newly-discovered evidence about semen and hair found at the crime scene. At a court hearing, his attorney told the trial court that the evidence was "Missing. We're trying to locate it. It may have been destroyed by the medical examiner's office; we're not sure." The trial court then summarily denied Mr. Finney's motion on May 4, 2000. No evidentiary hearing was held in circuit court. This Court upheld the summary denial of Mr. Finney's post-conviction motion. *Finney v. State*, 831 So. 2d 651 (Fla. 2002).

Mr. Finney filed various *pro se* motions to dismiss his post-conviction attorneys and a *pro se* motion for rehearing in the Florida Supreme Court, but was denied. The mandate from the Florida Supreme Court was issued on December 23, 2002.

On January 14, 2003, Mr. Finney filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and it was amended on July 21, 2003. On July 8, 2003, Mr. Finney filed a Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence in circuit court raising two claims, a  $Brady^1$  claim, and a claim alleging a conflict of interest with his post-conviction counsel.

In the *Brady* claim, Mr. Finney argued that the State withheld undisclosed and exculpatory evidence. That evidence was a love letter Sandra Sutherland wrote three days before her murder to a man named Robert. "Dear

<sup>1</sup>Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)

Robert," the letter dated January 13, 1991 said. "....I miss your hugs. I miss other things, too." Sandra Sutherland obviously had a romantic relationship with a man named Robert. In the same letter, she wrote, "I spent time today dreaming of you." In this letter, Sandra Sutherland detailed how she spent her days, including that she picked up a job application for him, and that she hoped he didn't mind. She also said she hoped she did not "disappoint him." She signed the 10-page letter, "Love, Sandy." At no time was trial counsel ever provided with information that Sandra Sutherland had a lover or boyfriend at the time of her death, who could have a potential witness at his trial. At no time was trial counsel provided with this handwritten letter that was found in the State Attorney file.<sup>2</sup>

This information was crucial for the defense. Mr. Finney was initially charged with sexual battery, but that charge was nolle prossed before jury selection began (R. 3). The medical examiner testified at trial that he found semen in the body of Sandra Sutherland, and in his view, the type of wounds she suffered were "passionate" (R. 394). However, he found no sign of trauma.

In a proffer outside the presence of the jury, Dr. Diggs testified that Sandra Sutherland's feet and hands were tied, as if in bondage. The trial court refused to allow the medical examiner to testify that Sandra Sutherland may have been involved in sadomasochism (R. 475). Had this information about Robert been provided to the defense before trial, counsel for Mr. Finney could have attempted to investigate "Robert." Counsel could have investigated the nature of their relationship. And more importantly, if counsel had this information, they could have determined if Robert had anything to do with the death of Sandra Sutherland. Crime scene technicians found 50 latent fingerprints in Ms. Sutherland's apartment. Seven of those prints were identified, but 25 remained unidentified.

Had defense counsel known about "Robert," they could have looked for him, found him and tried to match his fingerprints with those found in her apartment. Additionally, friends of Ms. Sutherland could have been questioned about her relationship with Robert. Neighbors of Ms. Sutherland could have been questioned about Robert and if he had spent time with Ms. Sutherland at her apartment.

The day before her murder, Sandra Sutherland was seen arguing with a white man outside her apartment. She and the man were cussing and screaming at each other in "very loud" voices, according to witness Sydney

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Mr. Finney participated in discovery at trial. When defense attorney Richard Escobar entered his appearance on January 13, 1992, he filed a notice of appearance, a written plea of not guilty and a demand for discovery (R. 6).

Lewis Bayles, Jr. He had never seen that man before (R. 446-447). When he stopped the car to glance over at them, the man calmly asked him, "What the fuck are you looking at?" Mr. Bayles replied "nothing," and went on his way (R. 449).

The next day, Mr. Bayles told police what he saw. A police officer took down his information, but he never was shown any photographs or was ever contacted again by police (R. 450). Mr. Bayles described the man he saw as a large white male, 6'1" tall, 220-230 pounds with a mustache (R. 452).

In addition to the love letter that was undisclosed to defense counsel, information found in the State Attorney file indicated that a person named Alice had been stealing from Sandra Sutherland. Handwritten notes in the State Attorney file show that a woman named Alice Rabidue had been stealing from Sandy Sutherland. This information was known by Ruth Sutherland, the mother of Sandra Sutherland. She told prosecutors, yet prosecutors failed to inform defense counsel of this exculpatory and impeaching information. Police also were made aware of this information because the notes in the State Attorney file indicate that Detective Bell of the Tampa Police Department was notified of it.

Trial counsel, however, was not notified nor given access to this information at trial. Had defense counsel been provided with it, they would have investigated Alice Rabidue, looked into her relationship with Ms. Sutherland, and presented it to the jury to rebut the aggravating circumstances. Additional impeachment information found in the State Attorney file indicated that Dr. Diggs, the medical examiner, was unable to tell if Sandra Sutherland had been sexually assaulted before or after death. Handwritten notes in the State Attorney file indicate that "Diggs will go along with the FDLE. This is unusual. Has already spoken with Billie about discrepancy."

At no point was defense counsel made aware that "Diggs will go along with FDLE." The prosecutor's concern about the discrepancy was never passed on to the defense, who had no reason to suspect that the prosecutor was trying to influence the testimony of the medical examiner. Defense counsel was not made aware of any discrepancy in the evidence or that the medical examiner was changing his testimony to fit the case. This information was exculpatory and should have been turned over to the defense.

Mr. Finney was never given the opportunity to question or impeach Dr. Diggs about the need or his willingness to go along with the FDLE. Nor could Mr. Finney question Dr. Diggs to determine if he was willing to change his opinion based on an alleged discrepancy, or to learn what the discrepancy actually was.<sup>3</sup>

The fact that this information was never passed on to the defense demonstrates the State's intent to influence the testimony of the medical examiner and hide evidence that was favorable to Mr. Finney. This information was exculpatory and should have been turned over to the defense. Dr. Diggs was never questioned about any discrepancies in his findings, because defense counsel was not made aware of any discrepancies.

Mr. Finney was never given an evidentiary hearing on his claims. This Court denied Mr. Finney relief without a written opinion in *Finney v. State*, 907 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 2005).

The United States District Court denied all claims on July 5, 2006. An Amended Order denying relief was filed on July 17, 2006. *Finney v. McDonough*, 2006 WL 2024456 (M.D. Fla. July 17, 2006).

Mr. Finney filed a timely Notice of Appeal and Application for a Certificate of Appealability on August 3, 2006. The District Court denied the application on August 14, 2006. On August 18, 2006, Mr. Finney submitted an Application for Certificate of Appealability to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. Judge William H. Pryor, Jr. denied Mr. Finney's Application without comment on September 13, 2006. Mr. Finney filed a Motion for Reconsideration for Certificate of Appealability, which was denied by a three-judge panel on November 9, 2006.

A petition for certiorari to the United States Supreme Court was filed on February 5, 2007 and denied on June 11, 2007.

Mr. Finney also filed a post-conviction motion arguing that lethal injection

violated his rights against cruel and unusual punishment. This motion was denied by the this Court on September 3,

2009. Finney v. State, 18 So. 3d 527 (Fla. 2009).

<sup>3</sup>Detective Bell testified that Mr. Kunkle's blood was sent to the FDLE for testing to see if it matched the stains on Ms. Sutherland's sheets. (R. 627).

At trial, there was a stipulation that:

_	A small semen stain was found on the bed sheet of Ms.
	Sutherland;
_	The FDLE could not date the semen stain;
_	The FDLE had a blood sample from William Kunkle; and
_	The semen stain was insufficient for an analysis (R. 636).

#### **Current proceedings**

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