IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES WILLIAM FINNEY,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC11-426 Lower Tribunal No. 91-1611

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0503843
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
carol.dittmar@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT7
ISSUE I 7
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING FINNEY'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION AS UNTIMELY AND SUCCESSIVE.
ISSUE II
WHETHER FINNEY IS ENTITLED TO RELIEF ON ASSERTED "PORTER ERROR."
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CERTIFICATE OF FONT COMPLIANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Bobby v. Van Hook, 130 S. Ct. 13 (2009)
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963)
<u>Carawan v. State</u> , 515 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 1987)13
<u>Cherry v. State</u> , 781 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2001)
Clark v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 1990)
<u>Ferguson v. State</u> , 789 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 2001)
Finney v. Florida, 516 U.S. 1096, 116 S. Ct. 823 (1996)
Finney v. McDonough, 2006 WL 2024456 (M.D. Fla. July 17, 2006)
Finney v. McDonough, 551 U.S. 1118, 127 S. Ct. 2944 (2007)
<u>Finney v. State</u> , 18 So. 3d 527 (Fla. 2009)
<u>Finney v. State</u> , 660 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert. denied</u> , 516 U.S. 1096 (1996)
Finney v. State, 831 So. 2d 651 (Fla. 2002) passim
<u>Finney v. State</u> , 907 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 2005)
<pre>Henyard v. State, 992 So. 2d 120 (Fla. 2008)</pre>

Hitchcock v. Dugger,
481 U.S. 393, 107 S. Ct. 1821 (1987)
Johnston v. Moore,
789 So. 2d 262 (Fla. 2001)
Lambrix v. State,
698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996)9
Marek v. State,
8 So. 3d 1123 (Fla. 2009)
Mills v. Dugger,
574 So. 2d 63 (Fla. 1990)
Pope v. State,
702 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1997)9
Porter v. McCollum,
130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) passim
Rodriguez de Quijas v. Shearson/American Express,
490 U.S. 477, 109 S. Ct. 1917 (1989)
Rompilla v. Beard,
545 U.S. 374, 125 S. Ct. 2456 (2005)
Sears v. Upton,
130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010)
Sochor v. State,
883 So. 2d 766 (Fla. 2004)
<u>State v. Glenn</u> , 558 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1990)
558 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1990)
State v. McBride,
848 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 2003) 10
Stephens v. State,
748 So. 2d 1028 (2001)
Strickland v. Washington,
466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984) passim
Topps v. State,
865 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 2004)9

Wiggins v. Smith,
539 U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003)
Williams v. Taylor,
529 U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct. 1495 (2000) 10, 15, 27
Witt v. State,
387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980)
Wong v. Belmontes,
130 S. Ct. 383 (2009)
Other Authorities
Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(1)
Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)
Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This appeal presents the denial of a successive motion for postconviction relief seeking further review of this case in light of the United States Supreme Court opinion in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). The appellant, Charles Finney, was convicted of the 1991 robbery and murder of Sandra Sutherland and sentenced to death. This Court upheld his convictions and sentences on direct appeal. Finney v. State, 660 So. 2d 674, 678-79 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1096 (1996):

According to the testimony at trial, Sandra Sutherland was discovered stabbed to death in her apartment shortly after 2 p.m. on January 16, 1991. The victim was found lying face down on her bed. Her ankles and wrists were tied and she had been gagged. On a nightstand near the bed was an open jar of face cream. The lid was lying next to the jar. The victim's bedroom had been ransacked, the contents of her purse had been dumped on the floor, and her VCR was missing.

According to the medical examiner the cause of death was multiple stab wounds to the back. Of the thirteen stab wounds, all but one penetrated the lungs causing bleeding and loss of oxygen, ultimately resulting in death. No bruises or other trauma was observed.

Numerous fingerprints were gathered from the victim's apartment, including prints from a piece of paper with German writing and from the jar on the nightstand. Fingerprints also were taken from the missing VCR, which was located at a local pawn shop. Pawn shop records indicated that the VCR was brought in on January 16 at 1:42 p.m. by Charles W. Finney for a loan of thirty dollars. Finney's fingerprints matched prints taken from the pawn ticket, the VCR, the jar lid, and the paper with German writing.

After it was determined that Finney had pawned the victim's VCR, Detective Bell of the Tampa Police Department interviewed Finney on the afternoon of January 30, 1991. Finney told Bell that he knew the victim due to the fact that they had lived near each other in the same apartment complex. Finney told Bell that he had seen the victim twice since she moved to another apartment in the complex. Once, he had talked to her about putting a screened porch on the back of her new apartment and then about two months prior to the murder he talked to her by the mailboxes at the complex. When asked about his whereabouts on the day of the murder, Finney told Detective Bell that he was home sick all day and never left his apartment. Upon being confronted with the fact that he had pawned the victim's VCR, Finney told the detective he found it near the dumpster when he took out the garbage and then pawned it.

Finney called a witness who testified that the day before the murder he saw the victim arquing with a white male near the mailboxes at the defense witness testified complex. Another around 10 a.m. on the day of the murder, he saw William Kunkle, who worked as a carpenter at the apartment complex, come out of the victim's apartment. According to the witness, when Kunkle saw him, Kunkle came out of the door very quickly, locked the door with a key, and walked around the corner. witness's girlfriend offered similar testimony as to Kunkle's conduct. In rebuttal, Kunkle testified that on January 16 he worked in the building next door to Ms. Sutherland's apartment, but had not been in her apartment that day. He denied ever having conversation or interaction with the victim. The fingerprint examiner also testified during rebuttal that Kunkle's fingerprints did not match those found in the victim's apartment.

The defense sought to recall the medical examiner, Dr. Diggs, to testify that the crime scene was consistent with both a consensual sexual bondage situation and a situation where the victim consented to being bound and gagged out of fear. The State objected to the testimony as speculative. During proffer, Dr. Diggs told the court that whether bondage situation was consensual was not something that a medical examiner would typically testify about

or try to determine. The trial judge disallowed any testimony about the circumstances being consistent with sexual bondage, but allowed Dr. Diggs to testify concerning the probable positions of the victim and of the attacker and about the fact that there were no defensive wounds or other signs of a struggle.

Finney took the stand in his own defense. testified that he had lived near Ms. Sutherland in the same apartment complex until she moved about eight months prior to the murder. A couple of months after Sutherland talked moved, Ms. to him screening in the patio of her new apartment. At that time, she handed him a piece of paper to write down measurements but took the paper back. testified that he returned about a week or two later Sutherland had decided not to screen the On that occasion he was in the victim's apartment, helped her move boxes and took various items out of the boxes. According to Finney the last time he saw Ms. Sutherland was a day or two before the She was coming out of her apartment early one She came over to his car and they talked. morning. He further testified that he found the VCR near the dumpsters at the complex and had pawned it the same day for pocket cash. He stated that he did not steal the VCR and that he did not kill Ms. Sutherland.

Finney was convicted of first degree murder, armed robbery, and dealing in stolen property (DA. V5/758). At sentencing, the State presented the testimony of Judy Baker, the victim of Finney's prior violent felony conviction (DA. V6/820-839). The defense presented the testimony of Finney's common law wife, Tammy Gallimore (DA. V6/839-859); a close friend and co-worker, Joseph Williams (DA. V6/860-869); and a forensic psychologist, Dr. Michael Gamache (DA. V6/869-892).

The jury recommended death by a vote of nine to three (DA. V6/921). The trial judge followed the recommendation, finding

three aggravating factors: 1) Finney previously had been convicted of a violent felony; 2) the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; and 3) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and five nonstatutory mitigating factors: 1) Finney's contributions to the community as evidenced by his work and military history; 2) Finney's positive character traits; 3) Finney would adjust well to a prison setting and had potential for rehabilitation; 4) Finney had a deprived childhood; and 5) Finney's bonding with and love for his daughter (DA. V1/153-57).

Following this Court's affirmance, Finney sought certiorari review in the United States Supreme Court, challenging this Court's finding of a procedural bar on his claim of improper shackling. Review was denied on January 22, 1996. Finney v. Florida, 516 U.S. 1096, 116 S. Ct. 823 (1996).

Finney's initial motion for postconviction relief, which included a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, was summarily denied. This Court affirmed that ruling in October, 2002. Finney v. State, 831 So. 2d 651 (Fla. 2002). Successive postconviction motions have also been summarily rejected. See Finney v. State, 18 So. 3d 527 (Fla. 2009) (lethal injection claim); Finney v. State, 907 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 2005) (claim under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194 (1963), as well as a renewed claim of ineffective assistance of collateral

counsel). Federal courts have also denied relief. See Finney v. McDonough, 2006 WL 2024456 (M.D. Fla. July 17, 2006) (denying federal habeas petition); Finney v. McDonough, 551 U.S. 1118, 127 S. Ct. 2944 (2007) (denying certiorari review of the denial of a certificate of appealability by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals).

On November 29, 2010, Finney filed another successive motion for postconviction relief, seeking relief pursuant to Porter (V1/42-61). The State filed a Response (V1/63-74), and a case management conference was held on January 21, 2011 (V2/112-114). The trial court thereafter summarily denied the motion as both untimely and successive (V1/80-82). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The court below properly denied Finney's motion as untimely and successive. Finney's motion did not meet the requirements for an exception to the one year limitation as provided in Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(d)(2)(B). The lower court held that <u>Porter</u> did not establish a new fundamental constitutional right and that this Court has already thoroughly addressed Finney's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Even if cognizable, Finney's <u>Porter</u> claim offers no basis for a finding of error in this case.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING FINNEY'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION AS UNTIMELY AND SUCCESSIVE.

Finney challenges the trial court's summary denial of his claim that prior litigation of his ineffective assistance of counsel claim must be revisited in light of Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). This issue presents a legal ruling, subject to de novo review. Henyard v. State, 992 So. 2d 120, 125 (Fla. 2008) (postconviction motion denied solely on the pleadings presents a legal issue, reviewed de novo). Finney has failed to demonstrate any error in the ruling below to deny his motion.

Finney's motion was filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851, which provides that motions for postconviction relief must be brought within one year of the conviction and sentence becoming final unless the motion meets one of the exceptions outlined in the rule. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(1). Because Finney's convictions and sentence became final in 1996, his motion was properly rejected as untimely.

Finney does not acknowledge the time limitations of Rule 3.851, and accordingly he makes no effort to demonstrate that he can satisfy any of the exceptions noted in that rule for the

filing of a motion beyond the one year deadline. Instead, he asserts that Porter is subject to retroactive application under Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), rendering his claim cognizable in postconviction. However, his analysis irrelevant; even satisfaction of the Witt retroactivity principles does not excuse a failure to comply with the procedural requirements in presenting a claim for relief. See Mills v. Dugger, 574 So. 2d 63 (Fla. 1990) (Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393, 107 S. Ct. 1821 (1987) claim subject to time bar); Clark v. Dugger, 559 So. 2d 192, 194 (Fla. 1990) (Hitchcock claim procedurally barred where previously considered rejected in state and federal court). Thus, before considering Witt, this Court must assess the propriety of the trial court's finding this motion to be untimely and successive.

Rule 3.851(d)(2) makes no exception to the time bar for consideration of cases to be applied retroactively under Witt. Rather, the rule only permits consideration of a new constitutional right which "has been held to apply retroactively." Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B). Finney does not identify any new constitutional right created by Porter nor has he alleged that Porter has been held to apply retroactively by any court. In fact, Porter did not create any new constitutional right and it has not been held to be retroactive; his motion was

therefore untimely and properly denied.

In addition, Finney's motion was barred as it raised an improper successive claim. In this case, the state courts have already considered and rejected the ineffective assistance of counsel claim Finney presents. Finney, 831 So. 2d at 659-61. Moreover, the state court rejection of Finney's claim has already been reviewed for "Porter" error, since the federal courts expressly found that the state court application of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984) here was reasonable. Finney, 2006 WL 2024456 at *33 ("The Florida courts did not misapply Strickland or any other relevant decision in denying Finney's claim that trial counsel was ineffective in presenting mitigating evidence") (footnote omitted). Because Finney's ineffective assistance of counsel claim has previously been rejected, his current claim procedurally barred. Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Clark, 559 So. 2d at 194. Piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. Pope, 702 So. 2d at 223; Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996). Thus, Finney's claim is procedurally barred and precluded by the law of the case doctrine and res judicata. Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits); <u>State v. McBride</u>, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-90 (Fla. 2003) (law of the case doctrine precludes relitigation of claim denied by trial court and affirmed on appeal).

In fact, this Court has rejected attempts to relitigate ineffective assistance claims simply because the United States Supreme Court issued opinions indicating that state courts have erred in rejecting claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. Marek v. State, 8 So. 3d 1123 (Fla. 2009). Marek argued that his previously rejected claim of ineffective assistance counsel at the penalty phase had to be re-evaluated under the standards enunciated in Rompilla v. Beard, 545 U.S. 374, 125 S. Ct. 2456 (2005), Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 123 S. Ct. 2527 (2003), and Williams v. Taylor, 529 U.S. 362, 120 S. Ct. 1495 (2000), because they had changed the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland. This Court decisively rejected the claim, stating "the United States Supreme Court in these cases did not change the standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under Strickland." Marek, 8 So. 3d at 1128. This Court did so even though the United States Supreme Court had found that state courts had improperly rejected these claims. As in Marek, Finney's claim was barred and was properly denied.

Even if this Court were to disregard the procedural

obstacles and consider whether <u>Witt</u> requires retroactive application in an untimely motion, Finney has not demonstrated this claim is cognizable. He asserts that the <u>Porter</u> decision constitutes a change in state law, as the United States Supreme Court "repudiated" this Court's jurisprudence in resolving ineffective assistance of counsel claims under <u>Strickland</u>. To the contrary, as the court below found, <u>Porter</u> merely determined that this Court unreasonably applied <u>Strickland</u> on the facts of that particular case (V1/81).

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